# HOW TO LEGALLY WORK IN ALBANIA, NORTH MACEDONIA, AND MONTENEGRO

A Step-by-Step Guide for Kosovo Job Seekers

# Table of Contents

Introduction	3
Purpose of the Guide	3
Organization of the Guide	3
Why This Guide is Important	4
Working in Albania	5
Entry to Albania	5
Steps to Obtain the 5-Year Residence/Work Permit in Albania:	5
Opportunities in Albania	6
Hospitality & Tourism	6
Gastronomy (Food Service)	7
Construction & Trades	7
Other Services	7
Bottom Line for Albania	7
Working in North Macedonia	7
Entry to North Macedonia	8
Steps to Obtain a Work Permit & Residence in North Macedonia	8
Duration and Renewal	11
Opportunities in North Macedonia	11
Hospitality and Tourism	12
Construction and Skilled Trades	12
Manufacturing and Textiles	12
IT and Outsourcing	12
General Labor and Services	13
Working in Montenegro	13
Entry to Montenegro	14
Steps to Obtain a Temporary Residence and Work Permit in Montenegr	ro:.14
Penewal or Extension	17

# HOW TO LEGALLY WORK IN ALBANIA, NORTH MACEDONIA, AND MONTENEGRO

Opportunities in Montenegro	17
Tourism & Hospitality (Seasonal Work)	17
Construction and Trades	18
Year-Round Hospitality/Services	18
Other Sectors	18
Working Conditions and Legal Considerations	18
Comparative Analysis	19
Albania	19
North Macedonia	20
Montenegro	20
Some Useful Websites for Job Seekers	21

# Introduction

Welcome to the comprehensive employment guide tailored specifically for job seekers from Kosovo who are looking to work in Albania, North Macedonia, and Montenegro. This guide aims to provide you with all the necessary information and steps required to legally secure employment in these neighboring countries. Whether you are seeking opportunities in gastronomy, construction, hospitality, or other sectors, this guide will help you navigate the legal procedures, understand the requirements, and make informed decisions about your career abroad.

Job seekers from Kosovo have various opportunities in neighboring Albania, North Macedonia, and Montenegro. This guide explains the legal employment procedures in each of these three countries – what you need to know about entry, work permits, and registration – with a focus on sectors like gastronomy, construction, and hospitality where demand is high. Each country has its own requirements, so it's important to follow the specific steps for your destination. The information below is up-to-date and accurate as of 2025, ensuring you understand the current processes.

# Purpose of the Guide

The primary purpose of this guide is to empower job seekers from Kosovo with the knowledge and resources needed to successfully find and secure employment in Albania, North Macedonia, and Montenegro. Each of these countries offers unique opportunities and has specific legal requirements for foreign workers. By understanding these requirements and following the outlined steps, you can ensure a smooth and legal transition to working in your chosen destination.

This guide is designed to be user-friendly and practical, providing clear and concise information on the necessary procedures, required documents, and potential job opportunities in each country. It aims to reduce the complexity and uncertainty often associated with working abroad, making it easier for you to take advantage of the opportunities available in these neighboring countries.

# Organization of the Guide

The guide is organized into three main sections, each dedicated to one of the target countries: Albania, North Macedonia, and Montenegro. Within each section, you will find detailed information on the following topics:

- ⇒ Overview: A brief introduction to the country, its relationship with Kosovo, and the general employment landscape. This section provides context and highlights the key opportunities and challenges for Kosovo job seekers.
- ⇒ Entry Requirements: Information on the visa and entry requirements for Kosovo citizens, including any special agreements or exemptions that may apply. This section ensures you understand the initial steps needed to enter the country legally.
- ⇒ Work Permit and Residence Procedures: A step-by-step guide to obtaining the necessary work permits and residence permits in each country. This section covers the required documents, application processes, and timelines, providing you with a clear roadmap to follow.
- ⇒ Job Opportunities: An overview of the sectors and industries with high demand for foreign workers, including specific job roles and qualifications that are in demand. This section helps you identify potential job opportunities and understand the local labor market.
- ⇒ Additional Tips and Considerations: Practical advice on language and integration, recognition of qualifications, staying legal, social security and taxes, and other important considerations for working abroad. This section provides valuable insights to help you succeed in your new job and adapt to life in your chosen country.

# Why This Guide is Important

Working abroad can be a rewarding experience, offering new opportunities for personal and professional growth. However, it also comes with its own set of challenges and legal requirements. This guide is important because it provides you with the information and tools needed to overcome these challenges and make the most of the opportunities available in Albania, North Macedonia, and Montenegro.

By following the steps and advice outlined in this guide, you can ensure that you are fully prepared for the legal and practical aspects of working abroad. This preparation will help you avoid common pitfalls, protect your rights as a worker, and increase your chances of success in your new job.

We hope this guide serves as a valuable resource for you as you embark on your journey to work in Albania, North Macedonia, or Montenegro. Good luck with your job search and new employment!

# **Working in Albania**

Albania and Kosovo have a very close relationship, with the same majority language (Albanian) and special agreements that simplify mobility. In 2022, a bilateral agreement introduced a 5-year biometric residence permit for Kosovo citizens, which doubles as a work permit. This means Kosovars can live and work in Albania with minimal bureaucracy. In fact, Kosovo citizens are now the largest group of foreigners with residence permits in Albania (According to INSTAT, almost 5,000 Kosovars held residence permits in 2024) 3,712 Kosovars had permits in 2023), often taking advantage of the easy process to join family or seek employment. Here's how to proceed:

# Entry to Albania

You do not need a visa. Kosovo and Albania have "freedom of movement" – you can enter Albania with just a valid Kosovo passport or ID card and stay visa-free. There is no 90-day limit as with many countries; you are essentially treated almost like a local resident under the special agreement. However, to work legally for longer periods, you should obtain the residence/work permit described below.

## Steps to Obtain the 5-Year Residence/Work Permit in Albania:

- Prepare Required Documents: Ensure you have a valid Kosovo passport or ID card. The process is very straightforward. Kosovars can get the 5-year permit with a simple application (ID and biometrics and without additional documents. In practice, this means you mainly need to provide basic identification details. (Having digital copies of your passport, a passportsized photo, and a local address in Albania can be useful when applying.)
- 2. Apply Online via e-Albania: Albania has an electronic system for residence permits. Apply for the 5-year biometric residence permit online through the official e-Albania portal. You'll fill out a form with your personal information. Since this special permit is based on the Kosovo-Albania agreement, no work contract or extra proof is required you are eligible by virtue of being a Kosovar citizen. The application is user-friendly and any issues or missing info are communicated by email per the e-Albania system. (If needed, you can also apply in person at Albania's migration offices, but online is recommended to save time.)

- 3. Await Approval: After submission, authorities will review your application. The process can take some weeks (the system notes it "can take up to 55 days" in general, though the Kosovo permit approvals are usually quicker due to minimal requirements). You'll receive confirmation by email. Once approved, you'll be issued a biometric residence permit card. This card is valid for 5 years and is renewable every 5 years with a similarly simple procedure.
- 4. Obtain Your Residence Permit Card: You may need to visit the Albanian authorities (Regional Directorate of Border and Migration) to provide fingerprints and pick up the physical permit card. The card is biometric (secure ID format) and essentially grants you the right to live and work in Albania for five years. No separate work permit is needed at all the residence permit itself serves as your work authorization. For example, a Kosovar student hired by an IT company in Tirana was able to work with just this card; the card "counts as a working permit" by law.
- 5. **Register and Start Working:** With your permit in hand, you can now work in any sector legally. You should register your address in Albania if you haven't done so during the application (usually the permit application will record where you reside). When you get a job, your employer will handle your work registration for tax and social security purposes make sure to provide them a copy of your residence/work permit card. Since you already have work authorization, the employer does not need to sponsor any permit; they simply treat you like a local hire in terms of employment registration. Always sign a formal employment contract and ensure you are registered for Albania's social insurance by your employer (this is required within 8 days of starting work for locals and foreigners alike).

## Opportunities in Albania

Kosovo citizens have an advantage of language and familiarity, which opens many jobs. Popular sectors for Kosovars in Albania include:

# Hospitality & Tourism

Albania's tourism industry is booming, and there's demand for hotel staff, restaurant workers, tour guides, etc. Many Albanians themselves work seasonally abroad in Western Europe, creating domestic shortages. This means hotels and restaurants in Albania often welcome workers from Kosovo (who speak Albanian

natively) to fill positions. Even workers from as far as India have started coming to Albania solely to work in growing industries, which shows how much the sector is expanding – a great opportunity for Kosovars.

## Gastronomy (Food Service)

With new restaurants and cafes opening in cities like Tirana, experienced cooks, chefs, and waitstaff are needed. Kosovars with experience in gastronomy can find jobs relatively easily, especially since no language barrier exists.

## Construction & Trades

Albania has ongoing construction projects (roads, real estate, tourism facilities). If you have skills in construction, plumbing, electrical works, etc., there are opportunities. The work permit isn't tied to a specific employer, so you could technically work with any construction firm once you have your residence card. Make sure any professional certifications are documented, and be prepared for the physical demand and safety regulations on Albanian sites.

## Other Services

Sectors like retail, customer service, and IT are also options. Tirana has a growing IT and outsourcing sector; knowing English or other languages can be a plus. Since you have the legal right to work, you can apply to any such jobs freely. (Note: Regulated professions like medicine or law might require additional license recognition – beyond the scope of this guide.)

## **Bottom Line for Albania**

The process is very user-friendly and streamlined for Kosovo citizens. Apply for the 5-year permit, get your card, and you're free to work. Thousands of Kosovars are already living and working in Albania under this arrangement. It's arguably the easiest country for you to move to in terms of legal formalities. Just remember to renew your permit every 5 years and enjoy the full rights to employment in Albania.

# **Working in North Macedonia**

North Macedonia (MK) does not have a special free-movement deal with Kosovo like Albania does. Therefore, Kosovo nationals must go through the standard procedure to obtain a work permit and temporary residence in North Macedonia. The process is a bit more involved: you will need a job offer and an

employer sponsor, and you'll need to coordinate with both the Employment Service Agency and the Ministry of Interior in North Macedonia. North Macedonia uses an annual quota system for foreign workers, meaning the government sets how many work permits can be given each year in various sectors. In practice, many permits are available, especially for in-demand jobs, but the employer must justify hiring a foreigner (showing no local was available, except in certain high-skill cases). Don't be intimidated by this because if a company wants to hire you, they will guide you through it. Key point is you must have legal authorization to work; working on a tourist entry is illegal and can get you deported or fined.

# Entry to North Macedonia

Since 2016, Kosovo and North Macedonia allow ID-card border crossing; stays are visa-free up to 90 days. This is useful if you want to travel to North Macedonia for job interviews or to look for work. However, once you decide to work there, you will need to transition to a long-term visa/status. Typically, North Macedonia issues a Type D (long-stay) visa for employment purposes, which you would get after your work permit is approved. Some applicants handle the paperwork while still in Kosovo (via the embassy), while others enter Macedonia and then apply – the law allows applying either at the diplomatic mission or in-country at the Ministry of Interior in some cases. The steps below cover the general path.

## Steps to Obtain a Work Permit & Residence in North Macedonia

- 1. Secure a Job Offer from a Macedonian Employer: Before you can get a work permit, you need an employer in North Macedonia who is willing to hire you. This could be a company in any sector (construction firm, restaurant, hotel, factory, IT company, etc.). The employer should provide you with a written job offer or contract. This step is crucial because the work permit process is employer-driven you cannot apply for a standard work permit on your own without a job offer.
- 2. Employer Obtains a Labor Approval (Positive Opinion): The employer must contact the Employment Service Agency of North Macedonia and request permission to hire a foreign worker for the specific position. Essentially, the authorities check if a local worker is available for that job. If not, they give a positive opinion allowing the hire. This is usually a formality if your skills match the job and the sector has labor shortages, but it's required. The law explicitly says a temporary residence for work is granted only after a positive opinion from the Agency and if the quota isn't exceeded, and that your

employment won't negatively affect the local labor market. Your employer handles this part: they will submit information about the job and your qualifications to the Agency. Once approved, the Employment Agency issues a certified document (a copy of the work permit application or an approval letter) for the employer to give you. Employer secures the Employment Service Agency's positive opinion (within annual quotas). You then apply for a Type-D long-stay visa/residence for work, either at an embassy or in-country; employer registers employment and social insurance immediately upon start

- 3. **Apply for a Long-Stay Visa (Type D) and Temporary Residence Permit:** With the employer's approval in hand, you (the employee) must submit your application for the work visa/residence permit. You have two main routes:
  - At a North Macedonian Embassy/Consulate (if you are still in Kosovo or prefer to get the visa first), or
  - o In North Macedonia at the Ministry of Interior (if you are already in MK, e.g. entered visa-free).

In either case, you will be applying for a Type D visa (for long stays) and a Temporary Residence Permit for employment. These are typically handled together – you get the visa to enter/stay, and the residence permit is the longer-term authorization.

Documents you need to provide with your application include:

- ⇒ Completed visa/residence application forms (the forms for work authorization; if applying at the embassy, it's a form like RD-2/1 for employment permit).
- ⇒ Your valid passport (must be valid at least 3 months beyond the permit's duration, and have blank pages).
- ⇒ Passport-sized photos (at least 1 photo).
- ⇒ Employer's certified approval letter or work permit application copy (the document from the Employment Agency proving the job position is approved for a foreigner).

- ⇒ Proof of accommodation in North Macedonia (e.g. a rental agreement, hotel booking, or letter from your employer if they provide housing).
- ⇒ Proof of sufficient funds or means of subsistence (often a bank statement or your employment contract showing your salary can suffice).
- ⇒ Proof of health insurance coverage for North Macedonia (travel health insurance if applying from outside, or national insurance once you start work).
- ⇒ Police clearance certificate (background check) from Kosovo. This is usually a document from your home country stating you have no criminal record.
- ⇒ Employment contract or letter from the employer (sometimes requested to verify the job terms).
- ⇒ Paid visa fee receipt (if applying for the D visa at an embassy).

**Tip**: Make sure all documents are in order. Some may need to be translated into Macedonian and notarized/apostilled (the embassy or authorities will inform you). Submit the application either at the embassy or the Ministry of Interior as instructed. If at the embassy, you'll get a visa stamped in your passport to enter MK; if you applied internally, you might get a temporary document.

- 4. Wait for Approval: The work permit (residence permit for work) application is processed by the Ministry of Interior in coordination with other departments. On average it takes around 45 days for the work permit to be issued. Once approved, you will receive a decision granting you temporary residence for employment. If you applied via the embassy, you'll now get the Type D entry visa in your passport to travel to North Macedonia. If you applied in-country (during your 90-day entry), you will receive a decision letter and later your residence permit card.
- 5. Travel to North Macedonia and Register: If you weren't already in North Macedonia, use the issued D visa to enter the country. Within 5 days of arriving, you must appear in person at the Ministry of Interior (Office for Foreigners) to finalize the residence permit process. Essentially, you'll need

to show your passport, the decision letter, and any originals of documents if required, to get your temporary residence permit card (this is the ID card that proves you can live and work in North Macedonia). The Ministry will issue the permit card within 25 days of your in-person appearance (often sooner). Important: North Macedonia, like many countries, requires foreigners to register their local address, if you applied for the permit, this is typically done as part of that process. Just ensure the address you're staying at is known to the authorities (if you change address, update them).

6. Start Work and Employer Registration: Once your residence/work permit is granted, you are legally allowed to start working. North Macedonia's law mandates that the employer registers the start of your employment with the Employment Agency within a maximum of 90 days from the date the Agency initially gave the opinion/approval. In practice, your first day of work should be reported immediately by the employer to the authorities (social insurance, etc.). As an employee, ensure you have a signed employment contract and that the employer enrolls you in the mandatory social security system. You should be given the same working conditions and protections as local employees.

## **Duration and Renewal**

A typical employment residence permit in North Macedonia is valid for 1 year (sometimes the first one might be 6 months with extension to 1 year). You can renew it annually as long as you continue to have a valid employment and the employer still needs you. If you change jobs, you may need to start a new permit process for the new employer (unless you hold a type of personal work permit for self-employment, which is a different category not usually applicable to regular job seekers). After several years of continuous residence, you might become eligible for permanent residence, but that's beyond the initial process. Always apply to renew before your current permit expires.

## Opportunities in North Macedonia

While the bureaucracy is stricter than Albania, North Macedonia does have a need for foreign workers in certain industries. Some sectors with high demand (due to local labor shortages) include:

## Hospitality and Tourism

North Macedonia's tourism (hotels, restaurants, resorts around Lake Ohrid, Skopje's hospitality scene) faces worker shortages. It's reported that "due to the tourist season, the most critical situation is in the gastronomy sector" with a lack of waiters, receptionists, kitchen staff, etc.. Many North Macedonians themselves go abroad (to Croatia, Greece, etc.) for seasonal work, leaving local employers in need of staff. As a result, there have been calls to ease hiring of foreign workers to fill 5,000+ positions in tourism and gastronomy. If you have experience as a waiter, cook, hotel receptionist or cleaner, you may find opportunities especially during summer season. Knowing some Macedonian or at least English is helpful, but note that Albanian is also an official language in North Macedonia (widely spoken in areas with Albanian community and often in the capital's service sector), so Kosovo Albanians can often work in Albanian-speaking regions or companies without a language barrier.

#### Construction and Skilled Trades

Like much of the region, North Macedonia also experiences shortages of construction workers and tradespeople. According to local experts, there is a "shortage of workers in other sectors, for example in construction... a shortage of painters, plumbers, locksmiths" and other trades. If you have skills in masonry, carpentry, plumbing, electrical work, welding, etc., you could find work with construction firms or contractors. Big infrastructure and development projects in North Macedonia often look for additional labor. Your employer will still need to go through the permit process, but these are the types of jobs authorities know are in demand (making that "labor market test" easier to pass).

## Manufacturing and Textiles

North Macedonia has several manufacturing zones (for automotive parts, textiles, electronics) where foreign investors sometimes face worker shortages. These factories might hire foreign workers if they can't fill all roles locally. Jobs can range from assembly line work to technical specialist roles. Check if any recruiters or agencies are hiring Kosovars for factories in North Macedonia's Technological Industrial Development Zones.

## IT and Outsourcing

On the higher-skill end, the IT sector is growing in Skopje and other cities. There is demand for software developers, call center operators (especially multilingual),

and other professionals. If you have the qualifications, a company could sponsor you. The process is the same, though such companies might be more familiar with it. (Note: North Macedonia has a Blue Card system for highly skilled workers too, but that's more relevant to EU folks – as a Kosovar you'll just use the standard route described.)

#### General Labor and Services

The Employment Agency data often shows demand for general workers, drivers, salespeople, cleaners, etc. These positions are often lower-paid, but if you have difficulty finding a job in Kosovo, you might find one in North Macedonia. Just be mindful of language requirements, many of these jobs will expect basic Macedonian communication, except in areas/companies where Albanian is used.

**Note:** North Macedonia's average wages might be similar or slightly higher than Kosovo's for many blue-collar jobs. Make sure the opportunity is worthwhile for you. Also, always follow the legal process – North Macedonian authorities do conduct inspections, and working without a permit could result in deportation or a ban. With the steps above, you can avoid those issues and work legally, gaining the same rights as local workers. Once you have your temporary residence/work permit, you essentially have legal status in the country and must abide by local laws (and you'll pay local taxes on your income, typically withheld by the employer)

# **Working in Montenegro**

Montenegro, like North Macedonia, requires Kosovo citizens to go through a standard work permit and residence process. Montenegro is a smaller country with a huge tourism industry on its Adriatic coast, and it regularly needs seasonal workers. The procedure for obtaining permission to work in Montenegro is somewhat simpler than North Macedonia's in that Montenegro issues a combined Temporary Residence and Work Permit (a single permit) and often the foreign national applies directly to the authorities (rather than through an embassy) 1. In fact, Montenegrin law allows you to apply in-country at the Ministry of Interior for this combined permit. Still, you must have a job offer and the required documents. Montenegro sets an annual quota of work permits (e.g., ~20,000 per year in recent years. Montenegro set 28,988 temporary residence &

work permits for 2024 (seasonal labour drives volumes), but they typically have plenty of room, especially for seasonal jobs. The key steps are below.

# Entry to Montenegro

No visa needed for short visits – Kosovo citizens can enter Montenegro with a passport or ID and stay up to 90 days visa-free 2. This means you can travel to Montenegro to search for jobs or attend interviews. Many Kosovars visit Montenegro's coastal areas for tourism as well; you can use the same entry for job-seeking. Once you have an employer ready to hire you, you will apply for a temporary residence and work permit before the 90 days are up (or you can even start the process immediately on arrival).

# Steps to Obtain a Temporary Residence and Work Permit in Montenegro:

- 1. Secure a Job Offer: As with North Macedonia, you need an employer in Montenegro who is willing to hire you. This could be a hotel needing staff, a restaurant, a construction company, etc. Montenegrin employers are often actively recruiting foreigners to fill shortages (especially for the summer season). Get a written job offer or contract from the employer. They must be a registered business with permission to hire foreign workers (most are).
- 2. **Gather Required Documents:** Prepare all documents you will need for the permit application. Typically, Montenegro requires the following:
  - Valid Passport: Copy of your passport (all pages) with at least 6 months validity remaining.
  - Employment Contract or Letter: A signed contract or official job offer from the Montenegrin employer.
  - Proof of Qualifications: Any diplomas, certificates, or evidence of your skills if the job requires specific training (for example, a chef's certificate, electrician's license, etc.).
  - Health Certificate: A medical certificate from a doctor stating you are fit for work (and possibly that you don't carry certain communicable diseases). Check if this needs to be from a Montenegrin doctor or if one from Kosovo is acceptable (often, a local medical check in Montenegro is required for residency).

- Police Clearance: A background check (criminal record certificate)
  from Kosovo showing you have no criminal history.
- Passport Photos: A couple of passport-sized photographs.
- Proof of Accommodation in Montenegro: Some evidence of where you will live (rental contract, hotel booking, or a statement from employer if they provide lodging).
- Proof of Financial Means: Not always asked if you have an employment contract, but sometimes a bank statement or the contract showing your salary may be needed to show you can support yourself.
- o **Application Form:** The official application form for temporary residence and work (available at the Ministry of Interior's offices in Montenegro).

Tip: It's a good idea to have these documents translated into Montenegrin (which uses the Latin script, similar to Serbo-Croatian) by a certified translator. Also, documents like the police clearance and diplomas should be apostilled to be officially recognized.

- 3. Apply in Person at the Ministry of Interior (Police Directorate) in Montenegro: Unlike some countries, the foreign national (you) personally submits the application for a temporary residence and work permit at the Ministry of Interior's local office where you will reside. For example, if your job is in Budva, you'd go to the local Ministry of Interior (MUP) branch in Budva. Take all your documents and your employer's contact info. You will fill out the application form (if not already) and hand over the documents. Essentially, you are asking for a Temporary Residence and Work Permit (privremeni boravak i radna dozvola). Since you are already in Montenegro on a visa-free entry, this is allowed. Note: If for some reason you could not enter visa-free (not the case for Kosovo, but for others), one would apply via embassy. But you can handle it directly in Montenegro.
- 4. Processing Time: The authorities will review your application, check your documents, and likely consult the Employment Agency of Montenegro to ensure your employment fits any quota or sector limits. Montenegro does have an annual quota but also many exceptions. Given recent needs, the

government has been approving many work permits to fill labor shortages. The processing time is usually a few weeks. According to business sources, obtaining work permits for foreign workers can take up to ~25 days under current procedures. It could be shorter or longer depending on the season (expect near 3-4 weeks on average). During this time, you are allowed to remain in Montenegro (your 90-day tourist period covers you). If your 90 days were to expire during the wait, talk to the MUP – generally, once an application is in process, you won't be considered "illegal" 15.

- 5. Approval and Permit Issuance: Once approved, you will be granted a Temporary Residence and Work Permit, typically in the form of a biometric card or a sticker in your passport. By law, this permit can be issued for up to one year for employment. In many cases, they'll give 6 months or 1 year depending on your job contract and the nature of employment (seasonal jobs might get 6-8 months permits; year-round jobs get 1 year). The permit is renewable: you can extend for additional year(s) as long as you still meet the conditions (Montenegro often allows a total of up to 2 years of extensions on a temporary work permit, and beyond that you might apply for permanent residence or a new permit category).
- 6. **Post-Permit Registration and Employment Start:** Upon receiving the permit, there are a couple of things to do:
  - Employment Contract Finalization: Your employer must now formally register your employment. Montenegrin law requires the employer to sign the employment contract with you within 24 hours of the permit issuance (if it wasn't signed earlier). This is to ensure that once you have the permit, you immediately have a valid work contract.
  - Social Insurance Registration: The employer must also register you for compulsory social insurance (health, pension, etc.) within those 24 hours 18. This gives you access to healthcare and other benefits while working.
  - Local Police Registration: Foreigners in Montenegro who obtain temporary residence should register their place of residence with the local police (if not already done as part of the application). Often, when your permit is approved, you are automatically registered, but if you change address, update the authorities. If you were staying at a hotel prior, and now move to an apartment, for example, just

ensure the local police station knows your current address (your landlord might assist with this).

Now you can legally start working in your job! Make sure to always carry a copy of your residence/work permit or have it accessible, as you may need to show it to authorities or even to prospective new employers.

## Renewal or Extension

If your job continues beyond your permit's validity, start the renewal process at least a month before expiry. Renewals are often simpler (you show continuing employment and updated documents). If you finish your job and leave Montenegro, inform the authorities or simply don't renew; the permit will lapse. If you switch employers, you will need a new permit for the new job (the new employer must go through a similar process to hire you).

# Opportunities in Montenegro

Montenegro's economy, especially on the coast, relies heavily on tourism. There is a chronic shortage of local labor in certain sectors, which is why the country is importing workers from the region and beyond. Here's where Kosovars might find opportunities:

# Tourism & Hospitality (Seasonal Work)

This is the biggest area. Each summer, Montenegro needs around 19,000–20,000 seasonal workers in the hospitality sector (hotels, restaurants, bars) 22, but many Montenegrins prefer to work in higher-paying countries like Croatia. Consequently, employers hire foreigners from Serbia, Bosnia, North Macedonia, and other countries to fill the gap. Kosovars are very much welcome too. Common jobs include hotel housekeepers, receptionists, waiters, bartenders, kitchen assistants, chefs, cleaners, lifeguards, etc. If you have any experience in hospitality or speak languages (English, Russian, Serbian/Montenegrin, etc.), you have an advantage. Note: Knowing Montenegrin/Serbian is not strictly required for every job (many resort staff communicate in English), but it helps, especially in customer service. Since Albanian is not widely spoken except in a couple of municipalities (like Ulcini), be prepared to use English or learn some basics of Montenegrin (which is very similar to Serbian/Bosnian) for daily life. The good news is employers often provide accommodation and meals for seasonal staff, and they assist with the work permit process (they need you, so they'll often help gather documents and navigate the bureaucracy).

## Construction and Trades

Montenegro has a lot of construction projects (hotels, roads, buildings) especially in the coastal and central regions. There's demand for construction laborers, carpenters, welders, electricians, plumbers, etc. Many workers from Turkey, Bangladesh, and other countries have even been hired in construction due to shortages. A Kosovo tradesperson might find work more easily in Montenegro, given geographic proximity and no visa hurdle. The work permit process is the same, but construction companies might handle multiple permits for many foreign workers at once (if they're bringing a crew). If you have certified skills, bring proof of your qualifications. Pay in construction can be relatively good, and permits might be granted for the length of the project.

## Year-Round Hospitality/Services

Beyond seasonal resort work, if you aim for a longer-term position (for example, a managerial role in a hotel, or a chef position that is year-round, or working in Podgorica in a restaurant or shop), you can get a normal 1-year permit and renew it. Montenegro's capital Podgorica and other towns also have expatriates and need English speakers for certain jobs (e.g., some international call centers or companies). These opportunities are smaller in scale, but worth looking into if you prefer a city like Podgorica or Tivat. The renewed permits could eventually lead to longer residency.

#### Other Sectors

There are niche opportunities in Montenegro in areas like marine services (ports, marinas), agriculture (seasonal farm work, though this is less common for foreigners under work permit, more for temporary farm labor), and domestic work (housekeepers, etc., for wealthy families or expats – but be cautious to ensure any such job is official and provides a work permit). The ICT sector in Montenegro is not very large, but if you are in tech, you'd likely find more options in the other countries or in Podgorica's few companies.

# Working Conditions and Legal Considerations

When you work in Montenegro with a proper permit, you are entitled to at least the Montenegrin minimum wage and standard working hours/overtime rules. Employers sometimes have been criticized for not paying enough – one reason locals don't take some jobs. But with the labor shortage, wages have been rising and employers are improving conditions (some even paying off-season retainers

to keep staff). Ensure you get what you're promised in the contract. Also, be aware that bureaucracy in Montenegro can be slow – the government has acknowledged the hiring process for foreigners has slow bureaucratic processes and outdated laws. They are working on simplifying it. As of 2023, they introduced some simplified procedures to hire seasonal workers faster. For example, they aimed to streamline permit issuance before the summer rush. Always check if there are any new rules (your employer or the Montenegrin embassy in Kosovo can inform you). Finally, note that if you only work a summer season and then leave, that's fine – just don't overstay your permit. If you want to return next season, you can apply for a new permit again

# **Comparative Analysis**

When considering employment opportunities in Albania, North Macedonia, and Montenegro, it's essential to understand the unique advantages and challenges each country presents. This comparative analysis will help you make an informed decision based on your skills, preferences, and career goals.

## Albania

## Advantages:

- ✓ Ease of Access: Albania offers the most straightforward process for Kosovo citizens, thanks to the bilateral agreement that allows for a 5-year biometric residence permit, which doubles as a work permit. This means minimal bureaucracy and no need for a separate work visa.
- ✓ Language and Cultural Familiarity: With the same majority language (Albanian) and close cultural ties, Kosovo citizens will find it easier to integrate and communicate in Albania.
- ✓ High Demand Sectors: The hospitality and tourism industry is booming, creating numerous job opportunities for hotel staff, restaurant workers, and tour guides. The construction sector also offers significant opportunities for skilled workers.

#### **Best for:**

• **Hospitality and Tourism Professionals:** If you have experience in hotel management, restaurant service, or tourism, Albania is an excellent choice due to the high demand and ease of integration.

• **Construction Workers:** Skilled tradespeople such as electricians, plumbers, and carpenters will find ample opportunities in Albania's ongoing construction projects.

# North Macedonia

## Advantages:

- ✓ **Diverse Job Market:** North Macedonia has a varied job market with opportunities in hospitality, construction, manufacturing, and IT sectors.
- ✓ Official Language Flexibility: While Macedonian is the official language, Albanian is also widely spoken in certain regions, making it easier for Kosovo citizens to find work in Albanian-speaking areas.

## **Challenges:**

- More Bureaucratic Process: Obtaining a work permit in North Macedonia involves a more complex process, including securing a job offer, employer sponsorship, and navigating the quota system.
- Language Requirements: While Albanian is spoken in some areas, knowing Macedonian or English can be beneficial for broader job opportunities.

#### **Best for:**

- ⇒ **IT and Outsourcing Professionals:** If you have skills in software development, call center operations, or other IT-related fields, North Macedonia's growing IT sector offers promising opportunities.
- ⇒ Manufacturing and Skilled Trades: Those with experience in manufacturing, textiles, or skilled trades will find opportunities in North Macedonia's industrial zones.

# Montenegro

## Advantages:

✓ Combined Permit System: Montenegro issues a combined Temporary Residence and Work Permit, simplifying the application process for foreign workers. Seasonal Work Opportunities: The tourism industry on Montenegro's Adriatic coast regularly needs seasonal workers, making it an attractive option for short-term employment.

## **Challenges:**

- Language Barrier: While English is commonly used in the tourism sector, knowing Montenegrin (similar to Serbian/Bosnian) can be beneficial for daily life and broader job opportunities.
- **Quota System:** Montenegro sets an annual quota for work permits, but there is typically plenty of room, especially for seasonal jobs.

#### **Best for:**

- ⇒ Hospitality and Tourism Workers: If you are looking for seasonal work in hotels, restaurants, or resorts, Montenegro's vibrant tourism industry offers numerous opportunities.
- ⇒ **Construction Workers:** Skilled tradespeople such as carpenters, welders, and electricians will find opportunities in Montenegro's ongoing construction projects.

# Some Useful Websites for Job Seekers

- ⇒ Albanian's National Agency of Employment and Skills, https://www.puna.gov.al/mainMenu/punekerkues
- ⇒ e-Albania Portal, <a href="https://e-albania.al/">https://e-albania.al/</a>
- ⇒ Employment Service Agency of the Republic of North Macedonia, https://av.gov.mk/esarm-today.nspx
- ⇒ Employment Agency of Montenegro, <a href="https://www.zzzcg.me">https://www.zzzcg.me</a>